IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2012-CP-02-1691  
Appellate Case No.: 2015-000409

---

**RECEIVED**

SEP 25 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Benjamin K. Henderson, ..... Appellant,

-v-

Patricia Greer, ..... Respondent

---

**APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

William F. Barnes, III  
PETERS, MURDUAGH, PARKER, ELTZROTH,  
& DETRICK, P.A.  
101 Mulberry Street, East  
Post Office Box 457  
Hampton, SC 29924  
Phone: (803) 943-2111

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING HENDERSON'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL *NISI ADDITUR* OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, NEW TRIAL UNDER RULE 59, SCRPC, WHEN THE JURY AWARDED ONLY HENDERSON'S INCURRED MEDICAL EXPENSES AND THE UNCONTRADICTED TESTIMONY WAS THAT HENDERSON EXPERIENCED PAIN AND SUFFERING?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court's denial of Appellant, Benjamin Henderson's ("Appellant", "Benjamin", or "Henderson"), Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur*, or in the Alternative, New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC, following the conclusion of a two-day trial where the jury found Respondent, Patricia Greer ("Respondent" or "Greer"), liable for the exact amount of Mr. Henderson's incurred medical expenses. (Order Denying Mot. for New Trial). The uncontroverted testimony in the case was that Mr. Henderson sustained pain and suffering, a recoverable damage under South Carolina law. The events giving rise to this action occurred on July 27, 2010, when Benjamin and his cousin, Bryant Henderson, were leaving Aiken and heading to Hampton when they came across a tree that had fallen across U.S. Highway 278 in Aiken County. Benjamin and Bryant got out of the vehicle and attempted to remove the tree from the traveled portion of the roadway. Before they could do so, however, a vehicle, driven by Ms. Greer, traveling in the opposite direction struck the tree, driving it into Benjamin and causing personal injuries.

Appellant filed this negligence action in the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas on July 17, 2012. (Compl.). The Complaint alleges that Ms. Greer was negligent in several particulars:

- (a) In traveling too fast for the conditions existing at that time;
- (b) In failing to keep a proper lookout;
- (c) In failing to keep her vehicle under proper control;
- (d) In failing to apply the brakes;

- (e) In failing to exercise that degree of care and caution which a reasonable and prudent person would have exercised under the same or similar conditions; and
- (f) In such other particulars as the evidence may establish.

(Compl. ¶ 8). Greer denied the negligence allegations and asserted that Henderson was negligent. (Ans. ¶¶ 3; 5). The case was tried in the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon on October 13-14, 2014. Following Greer's presentation of evidence, the trial court granted Henderson's motion for directed verdict on the issue of comparative negligence. (Tr. pp. 151-152). The jury found that Greer's negligence proximately caused Henderson's damages and awarded \$5,531.20 in damages. (Verdict Form). This was the exact amount of medical expenses incurred by Henderson and presented to the jury on his medical expense summary. (Exhibit 12).

Henderson moved for a new trial *nisi additur*, or, in the alternative, for a new trial pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC. (Mot. for New Trial). The basis for the motion was that the jury's verdict only awarded Henderson his medical expenses and the uncontroverted testimony was that Henderson sustained either a fractured left wrist or a sprained wrist and endured pain and suffering as a result. (Mot. for New Trial). In an Order signed February 5, 2015, the trial court denied Henderson's motion. (Order). Henderson received a copy of the Order on February 9, 2015 and filed this Appeal on March 2, 2015. (Not. of App.). For the reasons set forth below, the jury's verdict was inadequate and inconsistent in light of the uncontroverted testimony presented at trial.

### FACTS

On July 27, 2010, Benjamin Henderson and his cousin, Bryant Henderson ("Bryant"), performed a remodeling job in Aiken to install a wood laminate floor for a family friend. (Tr. p. 55, ll. 6-22; p. 94, ll. 4-8). Bryant lives in Varnville, located in Hampton County (Tr. p. 54, ll. 5-6), while fifty-three year old, Benjamin lives in Islandton, which is in Colleton County between Walterboro and Hampton. (Tr. p. 92, ll. 14-17; 92, l. 18 – p. 93, l. 1). Benjamin and Bryant traveled back and forth to Aiken for approximately two weeks while installing the floor. (Tr. p. 55, l. 24 – p. 56, l. 2). On July 27, 2010, Benjamin and Bryant left Aiken and were traveling on U.S. Highway 278 between Barnwell and New Ellenton. (Tr. p. 56, ll. 9-13). They were traveling in Bryant's truck when it started raining and they both observed a tree fall into the roadway. (Tr. p. 56, ll. 12-13; p. 94, ll. 21-22).

Bryant stopped his truck, and both he and Benjamin got out to assess the situation. (Tr. p. 57, ll. 10-11). They wanted to get the tree out of the roadway, if possible. (Tr. p. 57, ll. 13-14; p. 96, ll. 8-10). Bryant left his headlights on and put his emergency flashers on before getting out the truck. (Tr. p. 57, ll. 16-20; p. 95, l. 23 – p. 96, l. 7). A big truck stopped behind Bryant's truck. (Tr. p. 95, ll. 6-7). After they got out of the truck, it started raining harder. (Tr. p. 56, ll. 21-22). Benjamin and Bryant were out of the truck about a minute when Benjamin heard Bryant yell run. (Tr. p. 95, ll. 14-15).

Patricia Greer lives in Aiken. (Tr. p. 120, ll. 8-14). On July 27, 2010, she went to Ridgeland for an interview with the Jasper County School District and traveled through Barnwell on US Highway 278 on her way back to Aiken. (Tr. p. 120, l. 5 – p. 121, l. 2).

Greer was headed to a water aerobics class at Gold's Gym that started at 6:00 p.m.<sup>1</sup> (Tr. p. 121, ll. 16-25). She was traveling at approximately fifty-five miles per hour when it started raining. (Tr. p. 123, ll. 9-10). Once it started raining, she took off the cruise control and was going between thirty-five and forty miles per hour and started looking for a location to pull off the roadway. (Tr. p. 123, ll. 11-15). Greer estimates she traveled for approximately thirty minutes looking for a place to pull off. (Tr. p. 126, ll. 6-8). Despite taking her time to get to Aiken in a safe manner, she plowed into the tree at approximately 5:55 p.m.<sup>2</sup> (Tr. p. 127, ll. 10-13; p. 125, ll. 22-24; p. 98, ll. 15-16). The collision with the tree caused her airbag to deploy and totaled her vehicle. (Tr. p. 124, ll. 11-14; Ex. 3). The damage to her vehicle was such that she had to be cut out with the jaws of life. (Tr. p. 142, ll. 16-20).

The impact drove the tree, that Greer described as being so big she could not put her arms around, into Bryant's truck. (Tr. p. 58, ll. 16-17; p. 97, ll. 23-25; p. 124, ll. 2-4). As Benjamin ran from Greer, the tree struck him in the back and knocked him into the ditch. (Tr. p. 95, ll. 15-17). After climbing out of the ditch, Benjamin looked at his wrist and noticed it was not turned the right way. (Tr. p. 96, l. 25 – p. 97, l. 2).

Benjamin was transported by Aiken County EMS to the Medical College of Georgia ("MCG") in Augusta. (Tr. p. 98, ll. 13-14). While being transported by EMS, Benjamin was put on a spinal board and given an IV. (Tr. p. 98, ll. 24-25). The MCG records noted swelling and deformity of the left wrist, small abrasion over left wrist, and

---

<sup>1</sup> It's approximately 13.61 miles from the accident site to the Gold's Gym. (Tr. p. 127, ll. 8-13).

<sup>2</sup> Greer testified at trial that she had decided to forgo the 6:00 aerobics class, but at her deposition she did not testify she decided to forgo the class and only remembered the accident because she was on her way to the aerobics class. (Tr. p. 127, ll. 4-20).

abrasions on the low back. (Carter Depo. p. 18, ll. 18-25). As part of his treatment, Benjamin's clothes were cut off by hospital staff. (Tr. p. 99, ll. 18-24). The x-ray records noted a distal radius fracture and stated "reduction of distal fracture, anatomic alignment." (Carter Depo. p. 19, ll. 7-10; p. 21, ll. 7-9). A reduction is "putting the bones back in normal alignment. So taking a fracture that is maligned and putting it back into normal alignment." (Carter Depo. p. 22, ll. 23-25). Since MCG is a teaching hospital, both the resident and attending faculty member signed off on Benjamin's diagnosis as a left wrist fracture. (Carter Depo. p. 19, l. 21 – p. 20, l. 5). After being placed in a cast, Benjamin was discharged. (Tr. p. 99, ll. 4-13). Benjamin arrived home in Islandton around 4:00 a.m. (Tr. p. 99, ll. 14-15).

Benjamin made the 1 ½ to 2 hour drive to Augusta nine days later, on August 5, 2010, and saw Dr. Craig Carter, who was then working as a resident at the Hand and Upper Extremity Surgery Clinic at MCG. (Carter Depo. p. 16, l. 24 – p. 17, l. 9). Dr. Carter noted that Benjamin felt his wrist had made some improvement, although he was still in pain. (Carter Depo. p. 23, l. 23 – p. 24, l. 4). Dr. Carter removed the splint and noted that Benjamin had tenderness when pressed on the top portion of the wrist. (Carter Depo. p. 24, ll. 5-16). Benjamin also had limitation on flexion and extension which was caused by pain. (Carter Depo. p. 24, ll. 17-25).

At trial through video testimony, Dr. Carter opined that, despite the resident and attending faculty member's diagnosis in the emergency room, Benjamin did not have left wrist fracture but instead diagnosed a left wrist sprain. (Carter Depo. p. 19, l. 21 – p. 20, l. 5; p. 25, ll. 6-9; p. 25, ll. 15-18). Irrespective of whether it was a sprain or fracture, Dr.

Carter testified that Benjamin sustained a significant injury to his left hand. (Carter Depo. p. 30, ll. 16-19).

About two months after the accident, on October 4, 2010, Benjamin saw Dr. Luis Vega in Hampton because his wrist was still “hurting.” (Tr. p. 100, ll. 12-17). Dr. Vega treated Benjamin on October 4, 2010, for pain at the left wrist, which was described as “dull and throbbing (sic).” (Vega Depo. p. 11, ll. 6-14). Dr. Vega treated Benjamin until June 29, 2011. (Tr. p. 101, ll. 6-8). By June 29, 2011, nearly eleven months after Ms. Greer struck the tree, Benjamin’s pain was starting to get better. (Tr. p. 102, ll. 4-6). At trial, Benjamin testified he still experiences pain in his left wrist from time to time. (Tr. p. 102, ll. 7-13). Benjamin incurred \$5,531.20 in medical expenses as a result of Ms. Greer striking the tree. (Ex. 12).

Dr. Vega also testified at trial through video testimony. Dr. Vega graduated from Texas A&M, went to medical school at Boston University, did an internship at Brown for two years, and finished residency at the University of Florida – Shands Jacksonville. (Vega Depo. p. 5, ll. 10-21). He practices in Hampton and Walterboro with Palmetto Primary Care. (Vega Depo. p. 4, ll. 11-18). Dr. Vega testified that the medical treatment Benjamin received was a result of the July 27, 2010 events. (Vega Depo. p. 12, ll. 14-23).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“It is within a trial judge’s province to grant a new trial nisi if he finds the amount of the verdict to be merely inadequate or excessive.” Carson v. CSX Transp., Inc., 400 S.C. 221, 241, 734 S.E.2d 148, 158-59 (2012) (citing Bailey v. Peacock, 318 S.C. 13, 14, 455, S.E.2d 690, 691 (1995)). “In reviewing the trial court’s decision regarding a new trial nisi, [t]his Court has the duty to review the record and determine whether there has

been an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” Id. at 241, 734 S.E.2d at 159 (quoting Bailey, 318 S.C. at 14, 455, S.E.2d at 691). “If the amount of the verdict is grossly inadequate or excessive so as to be the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside the evidence, the trial judge must grant a new trial absolute.” Id. (quoting O’Neal v. Bowles, 314 S.C. 525, 527, 431 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1993)). “The failure of the trial judge to grant a new trial absolute in this situation amounts to an abuse of discretion and on appeal this Court will grant a new trial absolute.” O’Neal, 314 S.C. at 527, 431 S.E.2d at 556.

### ARGUMENT

The jury’s verdict in this case inadequately compensates Mr. Henderson for his recoverable damages under South Carolina law. The jury found that Ms. Greer’s negligence proximately caused Mr. Henderson’s damages and awarded \$5,531.20 in damages – the exact amount of medical expenses contained on the medical expense summary. (Verdict Form; Ex. 12). The uncontroverted evidence in this case is that Mr. Henderson experienced pain and suffering. Despite the attending faculty member and resident’s diagnosis in the emergency room that Benjamin sustained a left wrist fracture, Dr. Carter testified he diagnosed it as a left wrist sprain. (Carter Depo. p. 19, l. 21 – p. 20, l. 5; p. 25, ll. 6-9; p. 25, ll. 15-18). Regardless of whether it was a sprain or fracture, Benjamin sustained a significant painful injury to his left hand. (Carter Depo. p. 30, ll. 16-19). Nine days after the accident, Dr. Carter noted that Mr. Henderson was still experiencing pain. (Carter Depo. p. 23, l. 23 – p. 24, l. 4). Dr. Vega treated Benjamin on October 4, 2010 for left wrist pain. (Vega Depo. p. 11, ll. 6-14). By June 29, 2011, nearly eleven months after Ms. Greer struck the tree, Benjamin’s pain was starting to get

better. (Tr. p. 102, ll. 4-6). At trial, Benjamin testified he still experiences pain in his wrist from time to time. (Tr. p. 102, ll. 7-13). It cannot be reasonably argued that Mr. Henderson did not endure pain and suffering as he sustained either a fractured wrist or sprained wrist.

By finding Ms. Greer liable, and awarding damages solely for his medical expenses, the jury failed to adequately compensate Mr. Henderson and failed to follow the trial court's charge. The trial court charged the jury "[y]ou have the authority to determine the amount, if any, to be allowed for pain and suffering using calm and reasonable judgment to insure the damages are just and reasonable *in light of the testimony presented in this case.*" (Tr. p. 190, ll. 2-7). In the order denying Mr. Henderson's motion for new trial or new trial *nisi additur* the trial court noted "the jury could have reasonably determined the Plaintiff suffered little or no damage as a result of pain and suffering." (Order Denying Mot. for New Trial). This is inconsistent with the uncontroverted evidence presented at trial as the jury is not free to disregard the evidence of pain and suffering.

The Supreme Court addressed a zero verdict for conscious pain and suffering despite a liability finding in Carson v. CSX Transp. Inc., 400 S.C. 221, 734 S.E.2d 148 (2012). Carson involved a car-train collision in Denmark. Id. at 226, 734 S.E.2d at 151. The uncontroverted evidence presented at trial established that Beryl Harvey endured conscious pain and suffering prior to his death. Id. at 241. 734 S.E.2d at 159. An eyewitness to the accident testified that Beryl "looked like he was in a knot," and that "[h]e was hollering Mama." Id. Another witness testified she could hear Beryl moaning, groaning, and experiencing pain. Id. at 241-42, 734 S.E.2d at 159. A volunteer fireman

who responded testified that he could hear Beryl moaning and then Beryl started gurgling. Id. at 242, 734 S.E.2d at 159. The fireman could tell Beryl was in a lot of pain. Id.

The jury found CSX forty (40%) percent liable and Beryl's mother, the sole wrongful death beneficiary, sixty (60%) liable. Id. at 228, 734 S.E.2d at 152. Despite the testimony on conscious pain and suffering, the jury awarded zero in damages on the survival action. Id. The trial court denied Carson's motion for new trial or, in the alternative, new trial *nisi additur*. Id. In reversing and awarding a new trial, the Supreme Court noted:

Although the jury found CSX forty percent negligent in causing the accident, the jury found the damages for conscious pain and suffering and funeral expenses amount to zero dollars. It is evident to us that the jury was confused in rendering its damages award. Aside from Appellant's clear showing at trial that Decedent experienced conscious pain and suffering before his death, Appellant presented funeral and burial receipts representing expenses in excess of \$7,000.00. Therefore, the award of zero dollars in damages was not "merely inadequate," but was legally incorrect.

Id. at 242, 734 S.E.2d 159. Here, as in Carson, the jury is not free to disregard the uncontroverted evidence presented at trial when it found that Greer was liable. The Supreme Court did not hold that the jury awarded zero damages because the jury must have found that Beryl Harvey did not endure conscious pain and suffering. The testimony in Carson, as in this case, was to the contrary and as a result a new trial was warranted.

The jury's verdict in this case was also the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside the evidence. If the jury awarded \$1,000,000.00 in this case, Ms. Greer would be moving for *remitter* on the basis that the verdict was the result

of passion, caprice, prejudice, or some other influence outside the evidence. *Remittitur* should be used to reduce a verdict that is excessive while *additur* should be used to increase an inadequate verdict. Both *additur* and *remittitur* should be viewed through the same standard, not different ones. It should not be that excessive verdicts are decreased while an inadequate verdict is merely the jury's verdict despite uncontroverted evidence to the contrary. The Court of Appeals, in Waring v. Johnson, 341 S.C. 248, 258, 533 S.E.2d 906, 911 (Ct. App. 2000), noted this distinction: "[t]he granting of new trials upon the ground of inadequacy of damages occurs less frequently than the granting of new trials upon the ground of excessive damages, probably because detection of inadequacy of damages is not as easy as is detection of excessiveness." Regardless of whether it is excessiveness or inadequacy, the jury's verdict should be evaluated in light of the evidence.

Waring involved a two-car collision that occurred when Lea Waring's vehicle was struck from behind on US Highway 17 in Beaufort County. Id. at 251, 533 S.E.2d at 908. Ms. Waring had surgery for a herniated disc after the accident. Id. at 253, 533 S.E.2d at 909. At trial, the jury awarded \$23,237.28, the exact amount of the medical bills. Id. at 255, 533 S.E.2d at 910. Waring moved for a new trial *nisi additur*, which the trial court granted, adding \$40,000.00, on the basis that "[t]he jury failed to make any award for other damages such as pain and suffering." Id. On appeal, Johnson argued that the jury's verdict "may have been intended to represent a portion of Waring's medical expenses, plus pain and suffering. . . ." Id. at 260, 533 S.E.2d at 912. The Court of Appeals found Johnson's argument "patently untenable" as "[t]he jury's award of exactly the amount of Waring's medical expenses, to the penny, is an attempt to reimburse her

for those very expenses.” Id.<sup>3</sup> The court, in affirming the trial court’s *additur*, noted the trial judge “articulated compelling reasons in his order justifying the grant of the *nisi additur*.” Id. at 261, 533 S.E.2d at 913. If the verdict for the exact amount of the medical bills was a compelling reason justifying *additur* in Waring, the same holding should apply here where the jury’s verdict failed to award an amount for pain and suffering.<sup>4</sup>

### CONCLUSION

The jury’s verdict in this case fails to adequately compensate Mr. Henderson in light of the testimony offered at trial. The verdict is not only inadequate but also inconsistent with the trial court’s charge, which the jury is not free to disregard. The testimony established that Mr. Henderson sustained either a left wrist fracture or left wrist sprain. He experienced pain throughout his treatment with Dr. Vega, which the jury found was caused by Ms. Greer’s negligence. The failure of the trial court to grant Mr. Henderson’s *additur* motion constitutes an abuse of discretion which should be reversed. A new trial is warranted.