THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 12 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 12-CP-02-1691
Appellate Case No. 2015-000409

Benjamin K. HendersonAppellant,

vs.

Patricia GreerRespondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

A. Shane Massey
Post Office Box 2881
Aiken, South Carolina 29802-2881
(803) 649-6200
Attorney for Respondent

ISSUE ON APPEAL

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY DENYING HENDERSON'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL NISI ADDITUR?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 27, 2010, Patricia Greer ("Greer") was driving on U.S. 278 from Barnwell to Aiken when a large tree fell across the road during a heavy rain storm. Benjamin Henderson ("Henderson") and his cousin, Bryant Henderson ("Bryant"), were traveling in the opposite direction on U.S. 278 when they saw the tree fall. Henderson and Bryant exited their vehicle and were standing near the tree when Greer approached from the opposite side. Greer did not see the tree and struck it, knocking the tree into Henderson.

Henderson filed this action in the Aiken County Court of Common Pleas on June 12, 2012, alleging Greer was negligent in striking the tree and injuring him. The Honorable R. Knox McMahon tried the case before a jury on October 14, 2014. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury awarded Henderson \$5,531.20, the amount Henderson claimed in medical bills.

In an order filed on February 5, 2015, Judge McMahon denied Henderson's motion for a new trial nisi additur. Henderson served his Notice of Appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on March 2, 2015.

FACTS

Henderson and Bryant are cousins. Henderson lives in Colleton County, and Bryant lives in Hampton County. (R. p. 47, lines 5-8; p. 85, lines 18-19). In July 2010, Henderson and Bryant were working on a job to install laminate flooring in a house in Aiken. (R. p. 48, line 3 – p. 49, line 2). As they were driving home on July 27, 2010,

Henderson and Bryant were traveling on U.S. 278 between Aiken and Barnwell when they saw a large tree fall across the roadway in front of them. (R. 49, lines 9-13). After stopping, Henderson and Bryant exited the vehicle and walked up to the tree. (R. p. 49, line 14 – p. 57, line 12).

As Henderson and Bryant were driving home, Greer was returning to Aiken from a job interview in Jasper County. (R. p. 113, line 24 – p. 114, line 2). It began to rain heavily, and Greer slowed to 35-40 mph. (R. p. 116, lines 11-15). The heavy rain restricted Greer's visibility, and she did not see the fallen tree in front of her. (R. p. 128, lines 5-8; p. 131, lines 20-23). Greer struck the tree, and the force of the impact pushed the tree into Henderson and Bryant, who were standing on the opposite side of the tree. (R. p. 49, line 14 – p. 50, line 9). The tree tripped Henderson and knocked him into a ditch. (R. p. 87, line 23 – p. 88, line 20).

Henderson testified that he sustained injuries to his left hand, left knee, and right shoulder. (R. p. 91, lines 9-12). He was transported via ambulance to the Medical College of Georgia, made one follow-up visit to the Medical College of Georgia, and had six visits to Palmetto Primary Care Physicians. He presented medical bills totaling \$5,531.20. (R. p. 275).

At the trial of the case, the jury heard testimony from Henderson, Bryant, Greer, Dr. Luis Vega, Dr. Craig T. Carter, and Dr. Edward Warren. Following the trial, the jury found Greer was negligent and that her negligence proximately caused injuries to Henderson. The jury awarded Henderson \$5,531.20, the amount Henderson presented in medical bills. (R. p. 313).

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING HENDERSON'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL NISI ADDITUR.

Henderson presents three primary arguments to support his contention that the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a new trial nisi additur: the jury failed to follow the trial court's instructions, the verdict was inconsistent in that the jury awarded Henderson's medical bills without a corresponding award for pain and suffering, and the verdict was inadequate because the jury did not award an amount for pain and suffering.

1. THE JURY FOLLOWED THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS.

Henderson first argues the jury failed to follow the trial court's instructions and, consequently, arrived at an inconsistent verdict in awarding Henderson's medical bills but not awarding an amount for pain and suffering. However, the jury's verdict was not at all inconsistent with the charge.

Throughout his charge, the trial judge repeatedly instructed the jury that the jury finds and determines the facts:

"I'm going to now instruct you or charge you on the law which you must apply to the facts of this case as you find the facts to be." (R. p. 170, lines 18-20).

...

"In every case tried in this court before a jury, the jury becomes the sole and exclusive judges of the facts. The trial judge cannot comment on or make any statement about the facts in a case. You are the sole judges of the facts." (R. p. 172, lines 1-5).

...

“Review the evidence and you determine what the facts are and the inferences to be drawn from the facts individually and as a jury. You then take those facts and those inferences, compare them to the law as I have told you the law is and you will reach a verdict as I said for either one or the other, the plaintiff or the defendant.” (R. p. 184, line 20 – p. 185, line 1).

Furthermore, the trial judge’s charge on pain and suffering was significant: “Pain and suffering compensates the plaintiff for physical discomfort and emotional response to the sensation of pain cause by the injury itself. There’s no definite standard by which to compensate a plaintiff for pain and suffering. You have the authority to determine the amount, *if any*, to be allowed for pain and suffering using calm and reasonable judgment to insure the damages are just and reasonable in light of the testimony and the evidence presented in this case.” (R. p. 182, line 23 – p. 183, line 7) (emphasis added).

The trial judge did not instruct the jury that awarding Henderson’s medical bills requires an award of some amount for pain and suffering. Instead, the judge told the jury to determine the facts and, based on those facts, to determine the amount, *if any*, to be awarded for pain and suffering. By awarding no damages for pain and suffering, the jury acted appropriately within the bounds of the instructions.

2. THE VERDICT WAS NOT INCONSISTENT.

Henderson’s second argument is that South Carolina law requires – or, more accurately, should require – an award of pain and suffering if the jury finds that Greer’s negligence proximately caused Henderson to incur medical expenses. However, Henderson did not present that legal argument to the trial court in a timely manner so as to preserve it for this Court’s review. At the conclusion of Henderson’s case, the court asked the parties for proposed requests to charge. Henderson did not request the court to

instruct the jury that an award of Henderson's medical bills must be accompanied by an award of pain and suffering. (See R. p. 139, line 6 – p. 142, line 7).

At the conclusion of Greer's case, the trial court entertained directed verdict motions. Henderson made three motions for a directed verdict; none of those motions sought a directed verdict on pain and suffering. (See R. p. 144, line 4 – p. 150, line 22).

After delivering his instructions to the jury but before the jury began its deliberations, the trial judge asked whether the parties had any exceptions to the charge. Henderson asserted no objections to the court's instructions for the jury to "determine the amount, if any, to be allowed for pain and suffering" or any other part of the charge. (See R. p. 186, lines 2 – 22).

Furthermore, even if Henderson were correct that the jury's verdict was inconsistent, a motion for a new trial nisi additur would not be the appropriate vehicle to cure the purported error. "The proper and most consistent approach of treating [inconsistent] verdicts is to require, upon request, the trial court to resubmit the matter to the jury." Stevens v. Allen, 342 S.C. 47, 53 (2000). After the jury returns a revised verdict, or if the jury cannot reach a consistent verdict, "it is within the province of the trial court to order a new trial nisi or a new trial absolute." Id.

In Dykema v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, 348 S.C. 549 (2002), the jury apportioned 100% of actual damages against one defendant, Greenville Hospital System, and awarded punitive damages against another defendant, Companion Health Care. The trial court granted Companion's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict because the jury's failure to award actual damages against Companion precluded an award of punitive damages. The Supreme Court reversed the trial court, finding "Companion's

failure to object prior to discharge of the jury results in a waiver of the right to challenge the verdict.” *Id.* at 553. The Supreme Court cited a long history of precedent to support its holding that “a party may [not] allow the jury to be discharged in the face of an obviously defective verdict, which could easily be corrected upon resubmission to the jury,” and then seek to correct the error with a post-trial motion or appeal. *Id.* at 553-554.

In Bensch v. Davidson, 354 S.C. 173 (2003), the trial judge provided the jury with two verdict forms in a breach of contract action. One of the verdict forms applied solely to the defendants’ counterclaim and included instructions that if the jury found for the defendants on the counterclaim, the jury should “state the total amount of actual damage, *if any*, sustained by” the defendants. *Id.* at 179 (emphasis in original). The jury found for the defendants but awarded no damages. The trial court clarified the verdict with the jury, polled the jury at the defendants’ request, and dismissed the jury. Thereafter, the defendants appealed, claiming the verdict of liability with no damages was inconsistent. The Supreme Court rejected the appeal, finding the defendants had “allowed the jury to be discharged before voicing their objection to the verdict.” *Id.* More specifically, “[t]he ‘if any’ language in the verdict form indicated the jury could find no damages even if they found for appellants on their counterclaim.” *Id.* at 179-180. By not objecting to that instruction, the defendants had waived their right to challenge a verdict of no damages.

Here, Henderson did not request a ruling or jury instruction that a verdict awarding Henderson’s medical bills must include an award of pain and suffering. Additionally, after the court announced the jury’s verdict, the trial judge asked the attorneys whether they required anything further of the jury. Both attorneys said they had no remaining issues for the jury. (See R. p. 190, lines 17 – 21). Therefore, even if

Henderson were correct in his assertion that the jury's verdict was inconsistent, Henderson waived any objection to that inconsistent verdict by not raising the issue prior to the jury being dismissed. Henderson cannot overcome that waiver by subsequently asserting a motion for new trial nisi additur.

3. THERE IS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE ADEQUACY OF THE VERDICT.

Assuming a motion for new trial nisi additur is the appropriate vehicle for relief, Henderson argues the trial judge ignored the “uncontroverted evidence presented at trial” in denying that motion. (Appellant's Final Brief, p. 9). To support his position, Henderson cites Waring v. Johnson, 341 S.C. 248 (Ct.App. 2000). Like our case, Waring resulted from a motor vehicle collision. Similarly, as in our case, the jury in Waring awarded the plaintiff's medical bills without a corresponding award for pain and suffering. Unlike our case, though, the trial court in Waring granted the plaintiff's additur motion. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court because the trial court “articulated compelling reasons in his order justifying the grant of the nisi additur.” Id. at 261. Henderson argues, then, that an affirmed additur in Waring under similar facts compels overruling the denial of an additur motion here. But that argument misses the real point, and holding, of Waring.

“The grant or denial of a motion for a new trial nisi rests within the discretion of the trial judge and his decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless his findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law.” Id. at 256. “The trial judge who heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial possesses a better-informed view of the damages than this Court. Accordingly, great deference is given to the trial judge.” Id. at 257. Thus, the

holding in Waring is that a trial judge's decision on a motion for a new trial nisi, whether that is a grant or denial of the motion, must be upheld if there is any evidence to support that decision.

In this case, although there is certainly evidence in the record to support an award for pain and suffering, the evidence is not as one-sided as Henderson suggests. Dr. Craig T. Carter, an orthopedic surgeon, testified that x-rays taken of Henderson's wrist at the emergency room after the accident show "calcium deposit in the soft tissues of his wrist, which looks more like a chronic issue, and again no obvious bony injury that looks like an acute-type injury" (R. p. 219, line 24 – p. 220, line 2). Dr. Edward Warren, a radiologist, testified that a subsequent x-ray of Henderson's wrist appeared to show "calcium pyrophosphate deposition disease, and that is a -- an arthritic kind of change with calcium pyrophosphate crystals in the joint fluid" that develops over a long period of time. (R. p. 245, lines 17-22). Therefore, the jury could have concluded that any pain and suffering Henderson endured resulted from a chronic, arthritic condition in his wrist rather than from injuries sustained in the accident with Greer.

In his Order denying Henderson's motion for a new trial nisi additur, the trial judge noted that "[w]hether or not the Plaintiff suffered further actual damages due to pain and suffering caused by the Defendant's negligence is a question of fact for the jury." (R. p. 303, paragraph 3). In deciding that question of fact, the jury necessarily evaluates the credibility of each witness. In so doing, the jury could certainly have concluded that Henderson's claims of pain and suffering were not credible in light of the limited medical treatment, trial testimony that was inconsistent with deposition testimony and/or the doctors' testimony, and, perhaps, exaggerated testimony that Henderson

continued to experience wrist pain even though he had received no medical treatment for more than three years prior to the trial. (See R. p. 111, line 15 – p. 112, line 5).